
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
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COMMISSIONERS:                 Lina M. Khan, Chair 
                                                     Rebecca Kelly Slaughter 
                                                     Alvaro M. Bedoya 
                                                     Melissa Holyoak 
                                                     Andrew Ferguson 
 
In the Matter of 
 

  

Tapestry, Inc.,   
a corporation;    

 Docket No. 9429 
   

and   PUBLIC VERSION 
   

Capri Holdings Limited,   
a corporation.   

   
 

COMPLAINT 

Pursuant to the provisions of the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”), and by 
virtue of the authority vested in it by the FTC Act, the Federal Trade Commission 
(“Commission”), having reason to believe that Respondents Tapestry, Inc. (“Tapestry”) and 
Capri Holdings Limited (“Capri”) have executed a merger agreement (the “Proposed 
Acquisition”) in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45, which if consummated 
would violate Section 7 of the Clayton Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 18, and Section 5 of the 
FTC Act, and it appearing to the Commission that a proceeding by it in respect thereof would be 
in the public interest, hereby issues its complaint pursuant to Section 5(b) of the FTC Act, 15 
U.S.C. § 45(b), and Section 11(b) of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 21(b), stating its charges as 
follows: 

I. NATURE OF THE CASE 
1. Tapestry proposes to acquire Capri in a $8.5 billion transaction that would 

combine six iconic brands, including three—Tapestry’s Coach and Kate Spade and Capri’s 
Michael Kors—that are close competitors, into a conglomerate that has professed goals of 
becoming a  In its own words, the goal of 
Tapestry’s M&A strategy is to  and 

 the “accessible luxury” space in which Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael Kors compete. 
With Tapestry’s acquisition of Michael Kors, the closest competitor of Coach and Kate Spade, 
consumers will lose the benefit of head-to-head competition on price, discounts and promotions, 
innovation, design, marketing, and employee wages and workplace benefits. 
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2. Today both companies compete on everything from clothing to eyewear to shoes. 
But where Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael Kors most fiercely compete, and where they boast 
eye-popping market shares, are in handbags—specifically, “accessible luxury” handbags—where 
the parties offer high-quality products purchased by tens of millions of Americans. This is big 
business too—Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael Kors handbags generated approximately  

 in sales in the United States in 2022. And it is in “accessible luxury” handbags that the 
Proposed Acquisition will create a colossus with over  percent market share in the United 
States, dwarfing all other market players and combining two firms to which Wall Street have 
long referred as a   

3. The term “accessible luxury” was coined by Coach during its initial public 
offering over 20 years ago to distinguish Coach products, which filled the void between “mass-
market” items on the one hand and “true luxury” products on the other. As Tapestry explained at 
a recent Investor Day, “It was the idea that you didn’t have to spend an exorbitant amount of 
money to buy a high-quality bag.” In the years since, the parties, along with other industry 
players, have embraced the term—and its equivalents “affordable luxury” and “aspirational 
luxury” (hereinafter “accessible luxury”)—consistently, and routinely, using it in public 
statements, in calls with investors, and in internal documents to describe a very distinct handbag 
product: one that is crafted predominantly in Asia from high-quality materials with fine 
craftsmanship at affordable prices, distinguishing “accessible luxury” handbags from both the 
mass-market products that are made in bulk in China from lower-quality materials and sold at 
lower prices, and the high-end luxury handbags crafted predominantly in Europe that sell at 
significantly higher prices.  

4. Indeed, despite its incorporation of the word “luxury,” “accessible luxury” is very 
distinct from what the parties and other industry players call “luxury,” “true luxury,” “high-end 
luxury” or “European luxury” (hereinafter, “true luxury”) brands, like Chanel, Louis Vuitton, 
and Hermes, whose handbags retail in the thousands of dollars—multiple times the prices of 
Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael Kors handbags—and are made from the finest materials and 
leather, often in Europe. These elite brands also claim affluent, high-wealth consumers—in 
contrast to the millions of working- and middle-class clientele who comprise a large part of the 
customer base for Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael Kors.  

5. Indeed, while the parties advertise their products in the hands of jet-setting 
celebrities, the parties’ reams of consumer research paint a different picture of their typical 
consumer. These consumer surveys reveal that approximately  of Coach and Michael Kors 
customers have household incomes of
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6. As Coach has acknowledged in internal documents:  
Or, as the Vice 

President of Retail for Michael Kors has observed:  
 

Kate Spade sells its handbags to consumers with  income demographics. It will be these 
everyday American consumers—and employees of the companies—who will experience the 
effects of the substantial lessening of competition as a result of the Proposed Acquisition. 

7. The Proposed Acquisition will eliminate fierce competition between Coach, Kate 
Spade, and Michael Kors. A merger is unlawful if it substantially lessens competition between 
the parties independent of the analysis of market shares, as recognized by the 2023 U.S. 
Department of Justice and FTC Merger Guidelines (hereinafter, the “Merger Guidelines”). Tens 
of millions of consumers are the beneficiaries of an intense, long-standing rivalry between 
Coach, Michael Kors, and Kate Spade that would be squelched as a result of the Proposed 
Acquisition. This fierce head-to-head competition, which is monitored by the highest levels of 
Tapestry and Capri, comes in many forms—prices, discounts, promotions, innovation, design, 
marketing, and brick-and-mortar store experiences. 

8. The competition between the parties today benefits not just consumers, but other 
constituencies, such as employees. Tapestry and Capri together employ more than 33,000 
employees worldwide and compete for employees working in a variety of locations and 
functions—including thousands of non-union retail employees. This competition for labor has 
resulted in higher wages, better benefits, and improved working conditions.  
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9. For example, in July of 2021, Tapestry publicly committed to a $15/hour 
minimum wage for U.S. hourly employees, which CEO Joanne Crevoiserat internally 
acknowledged as  Its rival Capri 
immediately took notice, with its CEO John Idol 

 
Michael Kors’ VP of Stores wrote separately:  

Less than two months later, Michael Kors announced plans to raise its 
minimum wage to $15 per hour, effective , which benefitted nearly  
Capri employees.  

10. The elimination of this multi-faceted competition between the close rivals will 
harm consumers and employees, likely leading to higher prices, decreased innovation, and 
reduced wages. Indeed, it is not surprising that Tapestry’s stated and unabashed goal is to raise 
prices post-merger. Tapestry plans to do so by pulling back on wholesale channel sales—where 
brands have less control over pricing and discounting is more likely.  

 
 

 

11. And with the eradication of this fierce rivalry, it is also no surprise that, as 
chronicled by Tapestry’s own banker on the deal, Wall Street heralded the Proposed Acquisition 

 
 

12. By combining three of the top players in the market for “accessible luxury” 
handbags in the United States—including the top two (Coach and Michael Kors) by far—the 
Proposed Acquisition will significantly increase concentration and result in a highly concentrated 
market, making the Proposed Acquisition presumptively unlawful under controlling caselaw and 
the Merger Guidelines, which are rooted in case law and outline the legal tests, analytical 
frameworks, and economic methodologies both agencies use to assess a transaction’s legality. 

13. The Proposed Acquisition is also part of Tapestry’s pattern and strategy of serial 
acquisitions. The Merger Guidelines state that a “firm that engages in an anticompetitive pattern 
or strategy of multiple acquisitions in the same or related business lines may violate Section 7.” 
The Proposed Acquisition builds on a deliberative, decade-long M&A strategy by Tapestry—and 
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is just one in a string of acquisitions for Tapestry to achieve its goal to become the major 
American fashion conglomerate—or, in Tapestry’s own words, a  

 Its documents detail its strategy and goal of operating as a  
 and  Tapestry’s plan is to start first with 

 
which will only solidify its dominance in “accessible luxury,” stifle competition from smaller 
competitors and potential entrants, and contribute to a trend of consolidation in the broader 
fashion industry. In the last decade, Tapestry has already consolidated Coach, Kate Spade, and 
Stuart Weitzman, and Capri consolidated Michael Kors, Versace, and Jimmy Choo. If the 
Proposed Acquisition is completed, Tapestry will have consolidated six viable firms into one. 

 its SVP of Strategy and Consumer Insights has observed 
that the Proposed Acquisition would  

 

14. New entry will not be timely, likely, or sufficient to counteract the 
anticompetitive effects of the Proposed Acquisition. Even assuming that a new potential entrant 
could make a quick splash, scaling its sales and presence to replace the loss of competition 
between the parties would take many years. It would require, among other things, building a 
strong brand, a heavy brick-and-mortar presence, sizable investments in marketing and 
manufacturing, access to consumer data rivaling that of the parties, to name a few—all of which 
is extremely expensive and takes time. The story of Rebecca Minkoff embodies the struggle of 
an “accessible luxury” handbag entrant. Ms. Minkoff launched her brand in 2001, and the 
eponymous founder has spoken openly about the significant challenges she faced in scaling her 
company. Ms. Minkoff ultimately sold her company to Los Angeles-based diversified apparel 
company Sunrise Brands in February 2022 for a price estimated between $13-19 million.  

15. Respondents also cannot show cognizable, merger-specific efficiencies that would 
offset the reasonably probable and substantial competitive harm resulting from the Proposed 
Acquisition. 

II. JURISDICTION 
16. Respondents are, and at all relevant times have been, engaged in activities in or 

affecting “commerce” as defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44, and Section 1 of 
the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 12. 

17. The Proposed Acquisition constitutes a merger subject to Section 7 of the Clayton 
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18.  

III. RESPONDENTS AND THE PROPOSED ACQUISITION 
18. Tapestry is a global fashion firm headquartered in New York City. Tapestry 

generated over $6.6 billion in revenue for the fiscal year spanning 2022-2023, $4.3 billion of 
which came from North American sales, with gross margins of approximately 71 percent.  
Tapestry owns the following brands:   

• Coach: Founded in New York City in 1941, Coach sells handbags, small leather 
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goods, footwear, accessories, ready-to-wear apparel, jewelry, eyewear, luggage, 
watches, and fragrances. Coach accounts for 74.5% of Tapestry’s total net sales.  

• Kate Spade: Acquired by then-Coach for approximately $2.4 billion in 2017, Kate 
Spade sells handbags, small leather goods, ready-to-wear apparel, footwear, 
accessories, and home furnishings. Kate Spade accounts for 21.3% of Tapestry’s total 
net sales. 

• Stuart Weitzman: Stuart Weitzman predominantly sells women’s footwear and 
accounts for less than 5 percent of Tapestry’s total net sales. In 2015, then-Coach 
acquired Stuart Weitzman for approximately $530 million.  

In 2017, after acquiring Kate Spade and Stuart Weitzman, Coach renamed itself “Tapestry.” In 
North America, Tapestry operates 331 Coach stores and 205 Kate Spade stores. Coach and Kate 
Spade stores are located throughout the United States, not just in metropolitan centers and big 
cities such as New York, Los Angeles, or Miami. Coach and Kate Spade, for example, have  
stores in Branson, Missouri; Foley, Alabama; and Gretna, Nebraska. 

19. Capri is a global fashion firm headquartered in the United Kingdom. Capri has 
U.S. corporate offices for Michael Kors, Jimmy Choo, and Versace in New York City. In the 
fiscal year spanning 2022-2023, Capri generated about $5.6 billion in total global revenue, 
including $3.2 billion in revenue in the Americas, with gross margins of approximately 66 
percent. Capri owns the following brands: 

• Michael Kors: Michael Kors founded his namesake brand in New York City in 1981, 
which now accounts for approximately 69% of Capri’s overall revenue. The vast 
majority of Michael Kors’ sales come from its MICHAEL Michael Kors line, which 
sells women’s handbags, small leather goods, other accessories, footwear, apparel, 
and luggage. Capri refers to MICHAEL Michael Kors as an “accessible luxury line” 
in SEC filings. 

• Versace: Acquired by then-Michael Kors in 2018, Versace sells women’s and men’s 
ready-to-wear, footwear, handbags, home furnishing, accessories, small leather 
goods, and fragrance products, and haute couture.  

• Jimmy Choo: Jimmy Choo’s core product is women’s footwear, but it also sells 
accessories, handbags, and small leather goods. In 2017, Capri acquired Jimmy Choo.  

In 2018, when announcing its deal to acquire Versace, Michael Kors re-named itself Capri. Capri 
operates 224 Michael Kors stores in the United States. As with Coach and Kate Spade, Michael 
Kors stores are located throughout the United States, including, for example, Altoona, Iowa; 
Branson, Missouri; Foley, Alabama; and Gretna, Nebraska.  

20. On August 10, 2023, Tapestry and Capri entered into an Agreement and Plan of 
Merger, whereby Capri agreed to sell 100% of its voting securities to Tapestry for approximately 
$8.5 billion. 
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IV. THE MARKET FOR “ACCESSIBLE LUXURY” HANDBAGS 
21. The parties’ Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael Kors brands compete to sell 

“accessible luxury” handbags to millions of American consumers each day. Industry participants 
recognize a distinct market for “accessible luxury” handbags, which have peculiar 
characteristics, as well as distinct prices and consumers and unique production facilities, that 
distinguish them from other types of handbags. A relevant antitrust market in which the 
Proposed Acquisition may substantially lessen competition, or tend to create a monopoly, is 
“accessible luxury” handbags sold in the United States.  

A. The Parties Compete in a Relevant Market for “Accessible Luxury” 
Handbags. 

22. In the two decades since Coach gave birth to the term “accessible luxury,” the 
parties, press and analysts, and other industry participants have adopted “accessible luxury” to 
signify handbags that can boast quality leather and craftsmanship (as distinguished from mass-
market handbags) at an affordable price (as distinguished from true luxury handbags). The major 
players in this market are Tapestry’s Coach and Kate Spade, and Capri’s Michael Kors. 

23. The term “accessible luxury”—or its equivalents, “affordable luxury” and 
“aspirational luxury”—is ubiquitous in the parties’  

For instance, even after the Proposed Acquisition was announced, 
Capri continued to present documents to its board that  

And earlier in 2023, Tapestry’s 
CEO Joanne Crevoiserat told the Business of Fashion: “For accessible luxury brands like those 
in Tapestry’s stable, the key is to focus on creating value for the customer beyond pricing.” The 
year before, Tapestry’s Consumer Insights team  

 
 

24. Further establishing party recognition of a distinct market for “accessible luxury” 
handbags, Coach made clear to the Tapestry board in  
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25. The repeated, and consistent, recognition of an “accessible luxury” market in the 
 mirrors their frequent references to “accessible luxury” and its 

equivalents in their filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission and in earnings calls, 
including in 10-Ks filed the year just prior to their deal: 

• “Tapestry, Inc. is a leading New York-based house of accessible luxury accessories 
and lifestyle brands . . . . Coach is a leading design house of accessible luxury 
accessories and lifestyle collections, with a long-standing reputation built on quality 
craftsmanship.” (emphases added). 

• “MICHAEL Michael Kors is the accessible luxury collection and offers women’s 
accessories, primarily handbags and small leather goods, as well as footwear and 
apparel and is carried in all of the Michael Kors lifestyle stores and leading 
department stores around the world.” (emphasis added).  

26. The parties are far from alone in their recognition of an “accessible luxury” 
handbag market.  Other industry participants widely acknowledge a distinct market for 
“accessible luxury” handbags. Likewise, press and analyst reports regularly address Coach, Kate 
Spade, and Michael Kors as “accessible luxury” brands. Even Morgan Stanley, Tapestry’s 
investment banker for the Proposed Acquisition,  

 
 

  

27. As reflected in the  “accessible 
luxury” handbags have a distinct price range, which is recognized by other industry participants 
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as well. The parties recognize this range as separate and distinct from mass-market offerings, 
which typically fall under $100, and true luxury handbags, which have an  

 Indeed, pricing analyses conducted by the parties  
 

28. In another Tapestry board document, dated March 2022, Coach made it clear that 
 

  

29. The parties tout this pricing  between their “accessible 
luxury” brands and true luxury brands both to distinguish themselves from true luxury brands 
and to demonstrate to investors that there is room to “elevate” their brands (i.e., raise prices) 
without losing customers to the European luxury houses.  

30. The market for “accessible luxury” handbags also has distinct customers: middle- 
and lower-income consumers who seek out high-quality items at affordable prices. As previously 
explained, party documents consistently show that consumers with household incomes of  

 make up a large part—if not the majority—of purchasers for Coach, 
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Kate Spade, and Michael Kors handbags. For instance, a Michael Kors consumer insights deck 
from last summer showed that the Michael Kors’ handbag purchasers were a  

 
A document presented to the Tapestry 

board just a few months earlier shows that  percent of Coach consumers have 
household incomes of  

 Kate Spade’s income demographics are 
, as are those of the other brands widely recognized as major (albeit much smaller) 

players in the “accessible luxury” space:   

31. In contrast, Capri estimated in 2023 that  percent of the consumers of 
true luxury brands Gucci, Dior, Fendi, and Valentino had household income  

 

32. “Accessible luxury” handbags also have peculiar characteristics that distinguish 
them from those offered by mass-market brands and by the European true luxury fashion houses. 
These include: 

33. Quality. “Accessible luxury” handbags boast quality materials and craftsmanship. 
Coach states that it works  

 
And Michael Kors specifically  

 
These qualities separate “accessible luxury” from mass-market handbags, which are often 
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composed of manmade materials such as polyurethane and nylon and produced in bulk in China. 
In fact,  to 
China’s State Administration for Market Regulation (China’s antitrust regulatory authority), the 
parties argued that even 

 

On the other end of the spectrum, “true luxury” handbags carry the imprimatur of 
the finest craftsmanship and materials and are nearly all manufactured in Europe. 

34. Discounting and Promotions. “Accessible luxury” handbags are characterized 
by a high degree of, and frequent, discounting and promotions, particularly around major 
shopping holidays like Black Friday and Mother’s Day. For instance,  percent of Kate 
Spade’s “full price” (non-outlet) customers purchase products with a discount. And a Tapestry 
analysis from late 2022 showed average selling price of “accessible luxury” handbags in the 
United States was close to  percent less than manufacturer’s suggested retail price 
(“MSRP”). This is in stark contrast to true luxury brands. Louis Vuitton, Prada, and Gucci all 
have a very public no-discounting policy; this is one way that true luxury brands distinguish their 
authentic products from counterfeits. 

35. Omnichannel Approach and Sales Experience. “Accessible luxury” brands sell 
handbags through multiple sales channels: company-operated (also called “monobrand”) stores, 
including retail and outlet stores; online retail and outlet websites; and wholesale stores (e.g., 
Nordstrom’s, Macy’s, TJ Maxx, Ross). And their in-store shopping experience is also widely 
available throughout the United States—not just in metropolitan centers and big cities such as 
New York, Los Angeles, or Miami. On the other hand, true luxury handbag brands narrow the 
channels through which a customer can acquire their products, offering a more exclusive 
shopping experience. Some true luxury brands do not sell their products in any outlet or 
wholesale channels, maintaining close control over the distribution of their wares. Chanel and 
Hermes even go so far as to never sell certain handbags online—a customer must go into a store 
to purchase a Chanel or certain Hermes bag.  

36. Finally, “accessible luxury” handbags are made in unique production facilities, 
typically offshore in Asia but still with quality craftsmanship, which distinguishes their 
production from mass-market handbags made in bulk in China. One key supplier for “accessible 
luxury” handbags is Simone, which touts its quality-assurance system and the craftsmanship of 
its artisans, which has enabled it to “grow concurrently with the emergence of accessible luxury 
in the US market.” Notably, Simone has acknowledged,  

 
Tapestry integration planning documents 

are more blunt:  
   

37. True luxury and mass-market handbags do not share the same characteristics as 
“accessible luxury” handbags and thus are not part of the relevant product market. With jaw-
dropping prices at multiples of the offerings of Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael Kors, true 
luxury handbags are not substitutes for “accessible luxury” handbags. In the words of Coach’s 
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President:   The 
President of Kate Spade put it more bluntly:  

 
 Neither are mass-market handbags, which, as noted above,  

 

38. Although a relevant antitrust market can be defined solely based on qualitative 
evidence regarding market characteristics, or “practical indicia,” another common method 
employed by courts and the Agencies to determine the relevant market is the hypothetical 
monopolist test. 

39. As explained by the case law and Merger Guidelines, the hypothetical monopolist 
test is a tool used to determine if a group of products is sufficiently broad to be a properly 
defined antitrust product market. If a single firm (i.e., a hypothetical monopolist) seeking to 
maximize profits controlled all sellers of a set of products or services and likely would undertake 
a small but significant and non-transitory increase in price or other worsening of terms 
(“SSNIPT”), then that group of products is a properly defined antitrust product market. Here, a 
hypothetical monopolist of “accessible luxury” handbags likely would undertake a SSNIPT on 
consumers. In the event of a SSNIPT for “accessible luxury” handbags, consumers would not 
switch to mass-market handbags or to true luxury handbags in sufficient volumes to render the 
price increase unprofitable. Accordingly, “accessible luxury” handbags constitute a properly 
defined product market.  

B. The Parties Compete in a Relevant Geographic Market of the United 
States. 

40. The parties compete in a relevant geographic market of the United States. Coach, 
Kate Spade, and Michael Kors set pricing for “accessible luxury” handbags, including MSRP 
and discounts,  

 
 The parties’ shipping practices, including limitations on 

international shipping, also support that the geographic market is the United States. The parties 
and other “accessible luxury” handbag industry participants have U.S.-specific marketing and 
business strategies for their brands and handbags, monitor U.S. prices and market shares for 
handbags, and study U.S. customers as distinct from other regional customer bases (e.g., Europe, 
China).  

41. A hypothetical monopolist controlling all sellers of “accessible luxury” handbags 
in the United States could profitably implement a SSNIPT in the United States. Therefore, the 
United States is a relevant geographic market in which to assess the competitive effects of the 
Proposed Acquisition.  

V. THE PROPOSED ACQUISITION WILL ELIMINATE  
DIRECT HEAD-TO-HEAD COMPETITION 

42. The elimination of head-to-head competition between Coach, Kate Spade, and 
Michael Kors makes the Proposed Acquisition unlawful. A merger is unlawful if it substantially 
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lessens competition between the parties, as recognized by the Merger Guidelines. The parties’ 
internal documents show that Tapestry and Capri closely monitor each other’s business strategy 
and routinely respond to each other’s competitive decision-making. The Proposed Acquisition 
would eliminate this fierce competition, which manifests through pricing, discounts, promotions, 
innovation, design, marketing, and brick-and-mortar store experiences—all of which benefit 
consumers.  

43. Consumers are not the only constituency that profits from this rich, and fierce, 
competition: employees reap rewards from head-to-head competition between the parties’ 
concerning wages and workplace policies.  

44. There is a reasonable probability that the elimination of competition as a result of 
the Proposed Acquisition would result in increased prices, fewer discounts and promotions, 
decreased innovation, and reduced wages and employee benefits. 

A. Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael Kors Are Close Competitors. 

45. Tapestry and Capri recognize their Coach, Michael Kors, and Kate Spade brands 
as close competitors for handbags, so much so that

 
While the company was negotiating the Proposed Acquisition, a Tapestry 

shareholder stated in a letter to its Board of Directors that  
 Another Tapestry document recognizes that  

 Similarly, 
Capri’s documents, including several that made their way to the company’s Board of Directors, 

 
And Capri CEO and Chairman John Idol 

 
 Mr. Idol is not alone: his counterpart at Tapestry,  

 
 

 And internal 
Coach and Kate Spade documents discuss  in the words of a 
slide deck presented to Coach’s Chief Marketing Officer in 2021,         

46. Mr. Idol and Ms. Crevoiserat have good reason to focus on each other’s 
“accessible luxury” handbag brands, as the parties’ own consumer research shows that their 
customers  Tapestry’s 

 
for handbags across a myriad of metrics. For example, 

 
 The data 

compiled in these consumer surveys and  
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 Capri has conducted similar research,  
 

B. There Is a Reasonable Probability That the Proposed Acquisition Will 
Eliminate Head-to-Head Competition Between Coach, Kate Spade, and 
Michael Kors.  

47. Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael Kors have a laser-like focus on each other, 
continuously monitoring each other’s “accessible luxury” handbag brands from look and feel to 
pricing and performance, and then using that information to inform their strategic deliberations 
and actions. The Merger Guidelines state that “[c]ompetition often involves firms trying to win 
business by offering lower prices, new or better products and services, more attractive features, 
higher wages, improved benefits, or better terms relating to various additional dimensions of 
competition.” All of those forms of competition are here—and there is a reasonable probability 
that all would be eliminated if the Proposed Acquisition is allowed to proceed. 

48. Price and discounts. Examples abound in the parties’ documents of analyses 
 

 Mr. Idol himself has instructed his 
subordinates to  And when a Coach 
email blast showed Coach  

 
 Indeed, Mr. Idol has testified on behalf of Capri  

 

49. Price competition between Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael Kors occurs beyond 
simply aligning on list prices, however, as the parties  

 In fact, the parties—and Wall 
Street—have complained about the fierce undercutting and discounting between these three 
brands, so much so that Michael Kors’ CEO  

 

50. Marketing. Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael Kors pay close each attention to 
each other’s marketing—and no detail is too small. In May 2023, Mr. Idol wrote to his team: 

 
 

 The year before,  Michael Kors’ Group 
President of Retail, 

 
 Michael Kors’ next step was clear:   

51. Competition between the parties is particularly fierce in internet search 
advertising. Both Capri and Tapestry engage in  



PUBLIC VERSION 

15 

 

 
At one point, this competition became so intense Michael 

Kors  
 

 

52. Brick-and-mortar stores. Although each heavily relies on digital sales, the 
parties recognize the value of a strong brick-and-mortar presence, whether it be through their 
own retail stores or department stores like Macy’s. As such, Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael 
Kors  

 

 For example, when Michael Kors closed stores, Tapestry’s CEO  

 
  

53. Innovation and design. Coach, Michael Kors, and Kate Spade also compete 
head-to-head on the quality of their products, including on designs of their handbags. Examples 
abound of Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael Kors  

For example,  

 
Capri CEO John Idol likewise monitored  

  

54. Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael Kors compete on forms of innovation besides 
handbag design. For instance, when Coach launched Coach “(Re)Loved,” its handbag recycling 
program,  

which it launched in August 2022 as the Michael 
Kors “Pre-Loved” program. Tapestry  

 and one executive called Michael Kors  

55. Labor. Evidence shows that Tapestry and Capri compete on metrics that affect 
other constituencies, including their thousands of employees. Both parties have recognized their 
retail employees as providing a “competitive advantage” in the sale of their “accessible luxury” 
handbags—and both   

56. For example, after Tapestry publicly committed to a $15/hour minimum wage for 
U.S. hourly employees, its rival Capri immediately took notice, with CEO John Idol  

 
 Michael Kors’ VP of Stores wrote separately:  

 Less than two months later, Michael 
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Kors announced plans to raise its minimum wage to $15 per hour, effective  
which benefitted nearly  Capri employees despite estimates showing the initiative  

 

57. The parties also closely follow how they compare to each other on labor 
conditions,  

Reputation matters to both Capri 
and Tapestry—as it should, because analysts like  

 
 As Tapestry wrote,

 
 

 Moreover, the parties publicly 
release annual reports that tout their goals and accomplishments with regard to employees, 
including information about work environment, compensation, leave policies, promotions and 
training programs. This competition prompts the parties to improve their workplaces and worker 
benefits to attract and retain employees—all to maintain a “competitive advantage” for selling 
their products, including their “accessible luxury” handbags. Its elimination as a result of the 
Proposed Acquisition could have substantial effects on employment wages, benefits, and 
conditions for people who work for or seek employment from the parties and their brands. 

C. Tapestry Intends to Raise Michael Kors’ Prices Post-Transaction by 
Reducing Discounts and Pulling Back from Wholesale. 

58.  
 

Tapestry intends to raise prices for Michael Kors through reducing discounts and promotions and 
pulling back on wholesale (where it has less control over pricing)—which is exactly what Coach 
did in 2016 and Kate Spade later did following its acquisition in 2017.  

59.  Almost a 
decade ago, in 2016, Coach announced strategic plans to “rationalize” its department store 
distribution and remove Coach products from approximately a quarter of department stores, in a 
move “specifically designed to move away from the discounting.” Coach’s plans included 
reducing markdown allowances, because “heavy discounts offered in [the department store] 
channel make it harder for consumers to spend more on a similar bag at the company’s own 
stores or its e-commerce websites.” These decisions helped Coach increase sales prices, with 
Coach’s handbag AURs (Average Unit Retail) increasing to over $300.  

60. After Coach (now Tapestry) acquired Kate Spade in 2017, it did not try to hide 
that it intended to use similar strategies to reduce Kate Spade’s wholesale presence and discounts 
and to raise prices. As Coach’s then-CFO  explained in the press release 
announcing the deal: “[T]o ensure the long-term viability and health of the Kate Spade brand, 
and similar to the steps Coach has itself taken over the last three years, we plan to reduce sales in 
Kate Spade’s wholesale disposition and online flash sales channels.”  
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61. While Tapestry attempted to pursue this strategy with its Coach and Kate Spade 
brands, Michael Kors has taken a different path, using discounts to undercut competitors and 
increase its own sales volume and threatening to undermine the pricing “discipline” that Tapestry 
had heralded to investors. Tapestry’s acquisition of Capri will eliminate that competition. As 
Morgan Stanley, Tapestry’s bankers on the deal, wrote in a slide deck with investor commentary, 

 
 

62.  Indeed, deal documents demonstrate that Tapestry  
 post-acquisition. Specifically, Tapestry plans to  

 It 
intends to  

 
 

63. Tapestry also plans to  
 

 While observing  
, Tapestry found that  
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64. Tapestry’s plans will be fueled by its enormous consumer database and superior 
analytical capabilities. The company has assembled an arsenal of consumer data, boasting a 
database of  Rich data analysis, and 
heavy investment in other technological capabilities, such as artificial intelligence, have enabled 
Tapestry to strategically implement targeted price increases, reduce discounts and promotions, 
and limit inventory. Tapestry plans to leverage these capabilities for Capri’s brands, including 
Michael Kors, to drive similar results.  

VI. THE PROPOSED ACQUISITION IS PRESUMPTIVELY UNLAWFUL  
BECAUSE IT SIGNIFICANTLY INCREASES CONCENTRATION  

65. Apart from the elimination of fierce head-to-head competition, the Proposed 
Acquisition is also presumptively unlawful because it significantly increases concentration in the 
“accessible luxury” handbag market.  Already recognized by Wall Street as a  
Tapestry and Capri combined would control more than  percent of the market for “accessible 
luxury” handbags in the United States. Given the parties’ high market shares, the Proposed 
Acquisition would lead to a significant increase in concentration in the “accessible luxury” 
handbag market that exceeds the threshold for presumptive illegality. 

66. The Merger Guidelines employ a metric known as the Herfindahl-Hirschman 
Index (“HHI”) to assess market concentration. The HHI is the sum of the squares of the market 
shares of the market participants. For example, a market with five firms, each with 20% market 
share, would have an HHI of 2000 (202 + 202 + 202 + 202 +202 = 2000).  The HHI is low when 
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there are many small firms and grows higher as the market becomes more concentrated. A 
market with a single firm would have an HHI of 10,000 (1002 = 10,000).  

67. The Department of Justice and the Federal Trade Commission jointly publish the 
Merger Guidelines. Rooted in established caselaw and widely accepted economic thinking, the 
Merger Guidelines outline the legal tests, analytical frameworks, and economic methodologies 
both agencies use to assess whether transactions violate the antitrust laws, including measuring 
market shares and changes in market concentration from a merger. The Merger Guidelines—
themselves guided by numerous court decisions—support using the HHI method to calculate 
market concentration. 

68. The increase in market concentration caused by the Proposed Acquisition is 
indicative of the Proposed Acquisition’s likely negative impact on competition. The Merger 
Guidelines explain that a merger that significantly increases market concentration is 
presumptively unlawful. Specifically: 

• A merger that creates a firm with a market share of over 30 percent and that increases 
the HHI of the market by more than 100 points is presumed to substantially lessen 
competition in that market and is thus presumptively illegal. 

• A merger is also likely to create or enhance market power—and, again, is 
presumptively illegal—when the post-merger HHI exceeds 1800 and the merger 
increases the HHI by more than 100 points. 

69. The Proposed Acquisition is presumptively illegal in the “accessible luxury” 
handbag market in the United States. Although a merger need meet only one of the two 
aforementioned measures to be presumptively illegal, the Proposed Acquisition satisfies both: it 
is presumed likely to create or enhance market power—and is presumptively illegal—in the 
“accessible luxury” handbag market because it increases the HHI in the market for “accessible 
luxury” handbags in the United States by over  points, leading to a post-acquisition HHI 
above  points and a post-acquisition market share for Tapestry of considerably more than 
30 percent. 

VII. THE PROPOSED ACQUISITION IS PART OF TAPESTRY’S  
STRATEGY OF SERIAL ACQUISITIONS 

70. In the last decade, Tapestry has already consolidated Coach, Kate Spade, and 
Stuart Weitzman. Capri has likewise consolidated Michael Kors, Versace, and Jimmy Choo. If 
the Proposed Acquisition is completed, Tapestry will have consolidated six viable firms into one. 

71. The Merger Guidelines state: “A firm that engages in an anticompetitive pattern 
or strategy of multiple acquisitions in the same or related business lines may violate Section 7.” 
“[T]he Agencies will consider individual acquisitions in light of the cumulative effect of related 
patterns or business strategies.” 

72. Tapestry has engaged in an anticompetitive pattern and strategy of acquisitions in 
the “accessible luxury” market and intends to continue this pattern and strategy after the 
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Proposed Acquisition, in a quest to become a  Its 
pattern and strategy of acquisition will entrench Tapestry as the dominant player in “accessible 
luxury” handbags and make it harder for new brands to both enter and have a meaningful 
presence.  

73. The Proposed Acquisition is part of Tapestry’s long articulated strategy and 
pattern to become  and Tapestry’s documents demonstrate that its goal is 
to  

 

74. This strategy began over a decade ago, when in 2012 then-Coach  
 to address  

 and buying  
 

 By the next year, Coach had set its sights on becoming  
 To do so, Coach devised  

 
 

 
 

75. In 2015, Coach successfully took its first steps to become this  
 when it purchased Stuart Weitzman for $574 million, to enable 

Coach, in part, to be  Just months 
after this acquisition, Coach again looked at

 

76. A Kate Spade acquisition finally became a reality for Coach in 2017, when Coach 
purchased the brand for $2.4 billion and became Tapestry.

 
and Coach told investors the 

merger would  Coach also 
acknowledged concerns of  
resulting from the merger. Notably, just prior to purchasing Kate Spade, Coach told its board, 

 
 and that Coach wanted to 

   

77. That same year Coach also revisited its strategy to acquire  Later, 
in 2019, Tapestry looked at acquiring  and, in 2022, it 
focused its  on  

 That same year,  
 and, in fact, as it was  

 Tapestry 



PUBLIC VERSION 

21 

 

instructed Morgan Stanley to  

78. Tapestry’s strategy to acquire “accessible luxury” handbag brands is clear  
. In 2021, Tapestry CEO Joanne Crevoiserat made clear that  

 
Tapestry created documents for its Board of Directors leading up to the Proposed 

Acquisition saying it  and its SVP of Strategy and 
Consumer Insights observed  

Not only would the Proposed Acquisition create a North American 
“accessible luxury” handbag powerhouse, but Tapestry would be able to leverage its combined 
size for even more acquisitions of rivals in the “accessible luxury” handbag market by which it 
could entrench its position and make it harder for smaller rivals and new entrants to compete. 
Indeed, using the new balance sheet from the Capri acquisition, Tapestry would have 

 
Additionally, Tapestry would have   

VIII. THERE ARE NO COUNTERVAILING FACTORS TO  
JUSTIFY THE PROPOSED ACQUISITION 

79. Entry and repositioning to counteract the Proposed Acquisition’s anticompetitive 
effects is not likely, timely, or sufficient. Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael Kors are household 
names in the United States, scoring as some of the most recognized brands in the fashion 
industry in consumer research studies. These types of brands do not appear overnight, and more 
importantly, are not easily scaled; as designer Rebecca Minkoff, whose handbags compete in the 
“accessible luxury” market, observed: “We’ve been doing it [the brand] for 15 years and 
everyone who wants to have a brand forgets how long it takes….brands[s] are going to take 10-
15 years to really get into society and get to the middle of the country.” The fact that Tapestry 
has chosen to purchase Kate Spade, and now Michael Kors, instead of use that money to build 
new brands demonstrates just how long, and difficult, it is to build a new “accessible luxury” 
handbag brand. 

80. On top of the time and money it takes to build a brand are the costs associated 
with a brick-and-mortar presence. Tapestry has observed that  

 
Brick-and-mortar presence, however, is challenging and 

costly. Among other things, it requires hiring and training staff and employees—necessary not 
just to manage the location but also as a tool of building brand awareness and customer loyalty. 
Wholesale is also an option for an entrant, or smaller existing competitor, to achieve a brick-and-
mortar presence. But wholesale distribution presents unique challenges, including building 
relationships with wholesalers as well as establishing strong brand recognition such that 
wholesalers will want to work with the entrant in the first place. 

81. Marketing and advertising are essential for entrants to compete in the “accessible 
luxury” handbag market. The parties invest  each year across numerous 
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promotional channels. The parties have entire departments dedicated to creating promotional 
advertisements, photoshoots, and marketing campaigns. They partake in special events for high-
profile fashion events (e.g., fashion shows) around the world—something that is unavailable to 
new entrants.  

82. The parties’ treasure trove of consumer data is also a barrier to entry. Tapestry has 
publicly and internally hailed its vast access to consumer data to leverage strategic promotions, 
increase prices, and respond to its customer demands. Capri has done the same. This data 
provides both Tapestry and Capri with a significant competitive advantage; as Tapestry’s CEO 
told investors, “Tapestry is in a position of strength. Over the last few years, we’ve transformed 
our business. We’ve leaned into brand building with our portfolio of iconic brands, we’ve 
created a dynamic platform with digital and data capabilities, which has enabled us to deliver 
strong and consistent results. And we see these as competitive advantages that are increasingly 
important in the environment today, and they’re also scalable.” Post-acquisition, Tapestry’s vast 
access to data will increase barriers to entry, making it harder for smaller brands to enter and 
compete against the combined firm’s ability to price, respond to consumer demand, and drive 
scale. 

83. Moreover, new entrants require access to manufacturing, and here too the parties’ 
rich relationships with suppliers put them at a distinct advantage—and make it harder for new 
brands to emerge and scale to replace the loss of competition between the parties that would 
result from the Proposed Acquisition.  

84. Respondents cannot demonstrate merger-specific, verifiable, and cognizable 
efficiencies sufficient to rebut the presumption and evidence of the Proposed Acquisition’s likely 
anticompetitive effects.  

IX. VIOLATION 
Count I – Illegal Agreement 

85. The allegations of Paragraphs 1 through 84 above are incorporated by reference as 
though fully set forth herein. 

86. The Merger Agreement constitutes an unfair method of competition in violation 
of Section 5 of the FTC Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 45. 

Count II – Illegal Acquisition 

87. The allegations of Paragraphs 1 through 84 above are incorporated by reference as 
though fully set forth herein. 

88. The Proposed Acquisition, if consummated, may substantially lessen competition, 
or tend to create a monopoly, in the relevant antitrust markets in violation of Section 7 of the 
Clayton Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 18, and is an unfair method of competition in violation of 
Section 5 of the FTC Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 45. 
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NOTICE 
Notice is hereby given to the Respondents that the twenty-fifth day of September, 2024, 

at 10:00 a.m., is hereby fixed as the time, and the Federal Trade Commission offices at 600 
Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Room 532, Washington, D.C. 20580, as the place, when and where 
an evidentiary hearing will be had before an Administrative Law Judge of the Federal Trade 
Commission, on the charges set forth in this complaint, at which time and place you will have 
the right under the Federal Trade Commission Act and the Clayton Act to appear and show cause 
why an order should not be entered requiring you to cease and desist from the violations of law 
charged in the complaint. 

You are notified that the opportunity is afforded you to file with the Commission an 
answer to this complaint on or before the fourteenth (14th) day after service of it upon you. An 
answer in which the allegations of the complaint are contested shall contain a concise statement 
of the facts constituting each ground of defense; and specific admission, denial, or explanation of 
each fact alleged in the complaint or, if you are without knowledge thereof, a statement to that 
effect. Allegations of the complaint not thus answered shall be deemed to have been admitted. If 
you elect not to contest the allegations of fact set forth in the complaint, the answer shall consist 
of a statement that you admit all of the material facts to be true. Such an answer shall constitute a 
waiver of hearings as to the facts alleged in the complaint and, together with the complaint, will 
provide a record basis on which the Commission shall issue a final decision containing 
appropriate findings and conclusions and a final order disposing of the proceeding. In such 
answer, you may, however, reserve the right to submit proposed findings and conclusions under 
Rule 3.46 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice for Adjudicative Proceedings.  

Failure to file an answer within the time above provided shall be deemed to constitute a 
waiver of your right to appear and to contest the allegations of the complaint and shall authorize 
the Commission, without further notice to you, to find the facts to be as alleged in the complaint 
and to enter a final decision containing appropriate findings and conclusions, and a final order 
disposing of the proceeding.  

The Administrative Law Judge shall hold a prehearing scheduling conference not later 
than ten (10) days after the Respondents file their answers. Unless otherwise directed by the 
Administrative Law Judge, the scheduling conference and further proceedings will take place at 
the Federal Trade Commission, 600 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Room 532, Washington, D.C. 
20580. Rule 3.21(a) requires a meeting of the parties’ counsel as early as practicable before the 
pre-hearing scheduling conference (but in any event no later than five (5) days after the 
Respondents file their answers). Rule 3.31(b) obligates counsel for each party, within five (5) 
days of receiving the Respondents’ answers, to make certain initial disclosures without awaiting 
a discovery request.  
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NOTICE OF CONTEMPLATED RELIEF 
Should the Commission conclude from the record developed in any adjudicative 

proceedings in this matter that the Proposed Acquisition and/or Merger Agreement challenged in 
this proceeding violates Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended, and/or 
Section 7 of the Clayton Act, as amended, the Commission may order such relief against 
Respondents as is supported by the record and is necessary and appropriate, including, but not 
limited to: 

1. If the Proposed Acquisition is consummated, divestiture or reconstitution of all 
associated and necessary assets, in a manner that restores two or more distinct 
and separate, viable and independent businesses in the relevant markets, with the 
ability to offer such products and services as Tapestry and Capri were offering 
and planning to offer prior to the Proposed Acquisition. 

2. A prohibition against any transaction between Tapestry and Capri that combines 
their businesses in any of the relevant markets, except as may be approved by the 
Commission. 

3. A requirement that, for a period of time, Tapestry and Capri shall not, without 
giving prior notice to and obtaining the prior approval of the Commission, 
acquire, merge with, or combine their businesses with any other company 
engaged in business activity in any of the relevant markets. 

4. A requirement to file periodic compliance reports with the Commission. 

5. A requirement that Respondents’ compliance with the order be monitored at 
Respondents’ expense and by an independent monitor, for a term to be 
determined by the Commission. 

6. Any other relief appropriate to correct or remedy the anticompetitive effects of 
the Proposed Acquisition and/or the Merger Agreement or to restore Capri as a 
viable, independent competitor in the relevant markets. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Federal Trade Commission has caused this complaint to 
be signed by its Secretary and its official seal to be hereto affixed, at Washington, D.C., this 
twenty-second day of April, 2024. 

By the Commission. 

        

      April J. Tabor 
      Secretary 
 

SEAL: 

atabor
FTC Seal
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